FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OCT 14 1983

SID J. WHITE CLERK SUSPENDENCOURT

J. RUSSELL FORLAW, M.D.,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 64,258

4 D.C.A. CASE NO. 81-393

vs.

WALTER FITZER, as the personal representative of the Estate of DIANE FITZER, deceased.

Respondent.

A CERTIFIED QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH DISTRICT

BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF THE PETITIONER, J. RUSSELL FORLAW, M.D.

> MARJORIE GADARIAN GRAHAM JONES & FOSTER, P.A. 601 Flagler Drive Court Post Office Drawer E West Palm Beach, Florida 33402 (305) 659-3000

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On April 19, 1979 Terry Loomis struck and fatally injured 12 year old Diane Fitzer as she was riding her bicycle on the shoulder of Military Trail just north of Lantana, Florida. Loomis had no automobile liability insurance. At the time of the accident he was under the influence of both Quaaludes and alcoholic beverages.

The plaintiff filed suit against J. Russell Forlaw, M.D., the doctor who allegedly prescribed Quaaludes for Loomis, seeking damages for the wrongful death of Diane Fitzer. The plaintiff alleged in the second amended complaint:

1. This is an action for damages which exceed the sum of Two Thousand Five Hundred (\$2,500.00) Dollars.

2. Plaintiffs, WALTER FITZER and GAYLE FITZER, were the parents of DIANE FITZER, deceased, at all times material herein.

3. Defendant, J. RUSSELL FORLAW, M.D., is a physician licensed to practice medicine in the State of Florida and was so at all times material herein.

4. That at all times material herein, Defendant, J. RUSSELL FORLAW, M.D., practiced medicine in Boynton Beach, Palm Beach County, Florida and held himself out as a physician specially qualified in the field of family medicine.

5. At all times material hereto, the Defendant, J. RUSSELL FORLAW, M.D., was and is an employee of a professional association existing under the laws of the State of Florida, styled COX, VAN DER HEUVEL AND WEATHERFORD, P.A.

6. At all times material to this Complaint, the Defendant, J. RUSSELL FORLAW, M.D., was acting within the course and scope of his employment with the professional association, COX, VAN DER HEUVEL and WEATHERFORD, P.A.

On or about December 7, 1978, a 7. patient by the name of Terry Loomis, came under the care and treatment of Dr. J. RUSSELL FORLAW, advising the physician that he had just returned from San Francisco and had problems and wanted specifically a drug called The patient, Quaaludes for sleep. Mr. Loomis, advised Dr. FORLAW that he felt "hyper" and said that if he could not get relief, "he would kill himself". The patient, Mr. Loomis, told DR. FORLAW that nothing else worked, only Qualludes, and due to the fact that Mr. Loomis was "very adamant about it", DR. FORLAW prescribed the drug to him, giving him a prescription for thirty-six (36) in the amount of 150 mg. per unit. March 16, 1979, the On patient, returned and another Mr. Loomis, prescription for Quaaludes of 300 mg. per unit, number 50 was prescribed. Once again, the patient specifically requested the drug Quaalude.

At all times material hereto, 8. the medical literature was repleted with articles and information with respect to Ouaalude and/or methagualone abuse. The community which included physician DR. J. RUSSELL FORLAW, knew or should have known that Terry Loomis presented a classical profile of a patient who would abuse and/or was abusing the drug Quaalude, and that he was habituated to this medication at the time the drug was prescribed in March of 1979. The Defendant was negligent and otherwise departed from the standard of care in this and like communities, in that he:

a. Negligently failed to perform a physical examination of the patient known as Terry Loomis;

b. Failed to properly diagnose the patient's true condition as being a person who would abuse the drug, Quaalude, and that he presented a classical profile of a drug abuser;

c. He undertook the care and treatment of Terry Loomis for a mental or emotional condition for which he was not properly qualified to diagnose or treat, and failed to otherwise determine or follow up with psychiatrists, who were reportedly treating Dr. Loomis:

d. Failed to adequately advise and warn Terry Loomis of the fact that the drug, Quaalude was a habituating drug, and that the operation of a motor vehicle would be hazardous while under the influence of the drug Quaalude.

Additionally, the defendant failed to warn or advise Terry Loomis not to operate a motor vehicle after ingesting the prescribed drug.

e. Failed to warn or advise Terry Loomis not to drink intoxicating liquids or beverages while using the prescribed drug, and failed to consult with the physician to whom he referred Terry Loomis concerning the patient's care, treatment and medication.

9. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing negligence of the Defendants, the patient, Terry Loomis operated a motor vehicle while under the influence of the drug Quaalude, and as a result of the abuse of that medication, struck and killed the Decedent, DIANE FITZER.

10. As a result of the foregoing negligence, the natural parents of the Decedent, WALTER FITZER and GAYLE FITZER, suffered the loss of support, services and companionship of their These losses are permanent daughter. and continuing in nature and Plaintiffs will continue to suffer from them in the The Plaintiff, WALTER FITZER, future. as Administrator of the Estate of DIANE FITZER, deceased, is authorized by Florida law to assert claims in behalf of himself as natural parent and in behalf of his wife, GAYLE FITZER, as natural parent of the deceased.

11. At all times material herein the Defendant, knew or should have known that the administration of a drug such as Quaalude to the patient, Terry Loomis under the circumstances described herein would with reasonable forseeability, cause harm to innocent persons such as deceased, DIANE FITZER.

12. WALTER FITZER, as Administrator of the Estate of DIANE FITZER, deceased, is authorized pursuant to Florida Law to assert claims in behalf of the Estate of DIANE FITZER, which has lost the earnings of the Decedent over her natural life span, and has become obligated for the payment of medical bills and funeral expense resulting from the injury and death of DIANE FITZER.

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff, WALTER FITZER as Administrator of the Estate of DIANE FITZER, deceased, demands judgment for damages in excess of the minimal jurisdictional limits of this Court against J. RUSSELL FORLAW, M.D. and COX, VAN DEN HEUVEL and WEATHERFORD, P.A. along with a trial by jury of all issued so triable by right along with taxable costs. (R. 42-45)

The trial court granted the defendant's motion to dismiss the second amended complaint and dismissed the complaint with prejudice. (R. 47-48; 49; 51; 56). The

trial court entered final judgment for the defendant. (R. 52) Plaintiff appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal. (R. 54; 57).

The Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed. (A. 1-2) The court denied a timely motion for rehearing, but certified the case to this court as passing on a question of great public interest. (A. 3-5; 6)

CERTIFIED QUESTION

IS A PHYSICIAN WHO PRESCRIBES QUAALUDES TO A KNOWN DRUG ADDICT LIABLE TO A THIRD PARTY FOR THE NEGLIGENCE OF THE PATIENT IN DRIVING A CAR WHILE UNDER THE INFLUENCE OF THE DRUG.

We respectfully submit the issue presented in this case is more correctly stated:

IS A PHYSICIAN WHO PRESCRIBES DRUGS TO A PATIENT LIABLE TO AN UNIDENTIFIABLE THIRD PARTY FOR THE INTERVENING NEGLIGENCE OF THE PATIENT WHILE UNDER THE INFLUENCE OF THE DRUG.

ARGUMENT

It is respectfully submitted that there can be no liability to an unidentifiable third person arising out of the physician's treatment of the patient. The result of the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal is to create a "dram shop" act for physicians. The legislature has not enacted dram shop legislation applicable to vendors of alcoholic beverages, except under very limited circumstances. There is no reason or basis to overrule the

common law and impose similar liability to a third party against a physician.

There was no doctor/patient relationship between the plaintiff and the doctor. The plaintiff's injuries resulted from an efficient, intervening, independent cause, the negligence of Terry Loomis in operating a motor vehicle. The plaintiff failed to allege that Loomis' negligence was forseeable. The doctor's acts in prescribing quaaludes to Loomis were not the proximate cause of plaintiff's damages. The trial court correctly granted the motion to dismiss. The decision of the Fourth District Court should be quashed and the final judgment for the defendant reinstated.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal, citing F.S. § 768.125, analogized the doctor's liability in this case to that of a tavern owner who knowingly serves alcohol "to a person habitually addicted." The court's analogy must fail for several reasons. At common law there was no cause of action against the seller of alcoholic beverages for injuries caused by the intoxicated recipient to a third party. Annot., 97 ALR 3d 528. Since Florida has not passed a Dram Shop Act or Civil Damages Act, the common law remains in effect with regard to sale of intoxicating liquors. <u>United Services Automobile Association v. Butler</u>, 359 So.2d 498 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978).

In <u>Reed v. Black Ceasar's Forge Gourmet</u> <u>Restaurant</u>, 165 So.2d 787 (Fla. 3d DCA 1964), the court held that a bar owner was not liable to a third party for the

sale of intoxicants and the damages resulting therefrom. The rationale underlying the common law rule is that the consumption of the alcoholic beverage, not its sale, is the proximate cause of the plaintiff's injuries.

Effective May 24, 1980 the legislature enacted F.S. § 768.125 and broadened the liability of sellers of alcoholic beverages. That Statute provides:

> 768.125 Liability for injury or damage resulting from intoxication.--A person who sells or furnishes alcoholic beverages to a person of lawful drinking age shall not thereby become liable for injury or damage caused by or resulting from the intoxication of such person, except that a person who willfully and unlawfully sells or furnishes alcoholic beverages to a person who is not of lawful drinking age or who knowingly serves a person habitually addicted to or all alcoholic the use of any beverages may become liable for injury or damage caused by or resulting from the intoxication of such minor or person.

In Lonestar Florida, Inc. v. Cooper, 408 So.2d 758 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982), the court held no cause of action exists against a bar owner under Section 768.125 or at common law for dispensing alcoholic beverages to a drunk patron who later drunkenly and negligently injures another. In <u>Di Teodoro v. Lazy Dolphin Development Co.</u>, 418 So.2d (Fla. 3d DCA 1982), the court observed that no liability to a third party exists for serving liquor to one under the influence of alcohol.

In <u>Migliore v. Crown Liquor of Broward, Inc</u>., 425 So.2d 20 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) the Fourth District Court of

Appeal discussed the liability to a third party of a vendor Migliore was a passenger in an of alcoholic beverages. car driven by automobile which was struck by a an intoxicated minor. Migliore contended that Crown Liquor, the vendor of the beverages, was liable to him because it sold intoxicating beverages to a minor in violation of Section 562.11. The Fourth District Court of Appeal held that in the absence of a dram shop act or Civil Damages Act, the dispenser of intoxicating beverages is not liable. In that case¹ the court observed that the prerogative of law rule must be left to the modifying the common legislature. Legislation in derogation of the common law must be strictly construed.

Similarly in <u>Barber v. Jensen</u>, 428 So.2d 770 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) the Fourth District Court of Appeal held a vendor who sold intoxicating beverages to a minor could not be held liable to a third person injured by the minor.

The basis for the common law rule of no liability was that drinking the liquor, not furnishing the liquor, was the proximate case of the injury. The same rationale is applicable in this case. Ingesting the pills with alcohol and negligently operating a vehicle while under the influence of the drugs was the proximate cause of plaintiff's injury. The legislature has not seen fit to abrogate common law rules of no liability to third persons

¹ Review was granted by this court and is pending in case no. 63,337.

with respect to furnishing of drugs. It is not the prerogative of the courts to do so. If there is any liability on the part of physicians for such acts, the legislature should set the parameters of liability. It has not done so.

Qualudes are a form of methaqualone. Chapter 893, Florida Statutes (1983) governs drug abuse prevention and control. Quaaludes are a controlled substance under that chapter. Neither the common law or any of the provisions of Chapter 893 or Chapter 768 impose liability to a third person and against a physician for knowingly prescribing a controlled substance to a person habitually addicted. The Fourth District Court of Appeal has simply created "law" where none exists.

The ramifications of the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal may be far reaching. In the never ending search for the "deep pocket," it is quite probable that the treating physician of any negligent tortfeasor will also be a defendant in any third party liability action against the tortfeasor. A physician who prescribes valium or an antihistamine to a patient can be liable to a third person for injuries inflicted by a patient taking the drugs. Carrying the rationale even further, a physician may be held liable for the negligence of an uncontrolled or insulin dependent diabetic or a heart patient who injures a third party in an automobile accident. Myriad possible lawsuits may arise out of this decision by the Fourth District Court

of Appeal. The decision of the court is wrong and is contrary to all applicable case law.

The central issue in this case is whether a physician can be liable to a third party for the intervening negligence of the patient. We are not aware of any Florida decision which imposes liability under similar circumstances. The case factually most similar is Nance v. James Archer Smith Hospital, 329 So.2d 377 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976). Franklin Clayton had taken LSD. His grandmother and two companions drove him to the hospital. The hospital advised her it did not have proper testing facilities and that Franklin should be taken to Jackson Memorial Hospital, which had the proper testing facilities. Franklin, his grandmother and two friends drove to Jackson Memorial En route Franklin jumped out of the car, went Hospital. berserk and fatally stabbed plaintiff's decedent. Plaintiff brought a wrongful death action against the hospital, charging it was negligent in refusing to admit Franklin Clayton because he was an emergency case and a danger to himself and others. The trial court directed a verdict for the hospital. Plaintiff appealed. The Third District Court of Appeal affirmed, stating:

> The question of proximate cause in a negligence action is one for the court where there is an active and efficient intervening cause. Kwoka v. Campbell, Fla. App. 1974, 296 so.3d 629. Further, where the negligence of another, constituting an independent intervening efficient cause of the accident, was not reasonably foreseeable, no liability may

be fastened on the defendant. Rawls v. Ziegler, Fla. 1958, 107 So.2d 601.

The record is replete with evidence that Franklin, during the time he was present the defendant Hospital, did not exhibit any behavior which could be termed erratic or threatening and we conclude there was no reasonably foreseeability that Franklin would engage in the violent behavior which resulted in the death of plaintiff's husband.

329 So.2d at 378

In this case the complaint did not state a cause of action against the doctor because there was an efficient, intervening, independent cause which was not set in motion by the alleged initial wrong and which was not forseeable. In Florida a defendant is not liable for injuries to a plaintiff when there is an independent intervening cause unless that independent, intervening cause was a forseeable and probable consequence of the defendant's wrongful actions. <u>Crislip v. Holland</u>, 401 So.2d 1115 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981); <u>Cone v. Inter-County Telephone & Telegraph Co</u>., 40 So.2d 148 (Fla. 1949)

Plaintiff failed to allege it was forseeable that Loomis would negligently operate an automobile while under the influence of Quaaludes. There were no allegations the defendant should have forseen that Loomis would abuse the drug, use alcoholic beverages while taking the drug and operate an automobile while under the influence of the drug and alcohol. Furthermore, plaintiff did not allege the prescription was given with knowledge of Loomis' intent to

use the drug for improper purposes. The complaint did not state a cause of action against the doctor.

Courts of other states have held there is no liability in similar situation. For instance in Soto v. Frankford Hopsital, 478 F.Supp. 1134 (E.D. Pa. 1979), the court dismissed a complaint for failure to state a cause of action against several physicians. The plaintiff was rendered unconscious due to inhalation of carbon monoxide emanating from a leak in a defective gas heater. She was admitted to the hospital. The doctors misdiagnosed her condition; thus she took no steps to repair the defective qas heater. Three weeks later her husband died from carbon monoxide inhalation. Plaintiff alleged the doctor's failure to warn her was the proximate cause of her husband's death. The court held there was no liability under the circumstances.

In <u>Garcia v. Hargrove</u>, 176 N.W. 2d 566 (Wis 1970) an action against a seller of intoxicating beverages, the court held the seller was not liable for personal injuries sustained by the plaintiff in an automobile accident where the driver of the automobile had become intoxicated at the defendant's establishment. The court refused to abrogate the common law rule that it is not a tort to sell intoxicating liquor to able-bodied men. The court concluded that reasons of public policy dictated that liability not be extended to the furnisher of intoxicating beverages for injury caused by the acts of an intoxicating person. The

court stated the specific public policy considerations were: (1) causation in liquor cases would rarely be direct and would usually be remote; (2) it would be difficult to extend liability to all suppliers of liquor and illogical to adopt a rule that would subject a licensed commercial liquor vendor to liability and not a friend, employer, or liquor (3) extension acquaintance who gave away, of liability would subject every vendor or dispenser of liquor to exposure every time he provided a person with a drink and would multiply litigation in a claims conscious society, and, (4) permitting a cause of action against the defendant would only erode the responsibility of the intoxicated person for his own torts and would impose an unjust burden liquor. Those same public policy on suppliers of considerations are applicable here and mandate reverse of the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

At common law a person owed no duty to control the conduct of another or to warn those endangered by such conduct. Prosser, Law of Trots (5th Ed. 1971) § 56; Restatement 2nd Torts § 314. The courts have carved out some exceptions to this rule of no liability in cases where the defendant stands in a special relationship either to the person whose conduct needs to be controlled or to the forseeable victim of that conduct. Restatement 2d Torts § 315. In this case there was no special relationship between the defendant doctor and the person whose conduct needed to be controlled, Loomis, nor was there a special

relationship between him and the decedent. Furthermore, the pleadings failed to allege a special relationship giving rise to a duty to control Loomis' conduct.

The plaintiff relied on § 315 of the Restatement 2nd Torts and Tarasoff v. The Regents of the University of California, 551 P.2d 334 (Ca. 1976) and its progeny as the basis for defendant's liability. Plaintiff's reliance on Tarasoff is misplaced. That decision turned on the fact that the patient had specifically confided to his doctor his intention to kill the plaintiff's decedent. The court held that in view of that fact, the harm was forseeable. In this case there is no allegation the patient had threatened to abuse the prescribed drug, to negligently operate a car while under its influence and to present a danger to plaintiff's decedent. In Lipari v. Sears, Roebuck & Co., 497 F.Supp. 185 (D. C. Neb. 1980) the court observed that the California courts have had a tendency to narrow the Tarasoff decision to apply only to identifiable third In Lipari the court cited Tarasoff, holding a parties. psychotherapist liable to foreseeable victims of a patient whom he knows or should know poses an unreasonable risk of harm to others. Tarasoff and Lipari are based on adoptions of the special relationship analysis of the Restatement 2nd § 315. discussion of this Torts, For а special relationship, see Tarasoff at Pages 343-345.

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