IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: 64,258

J. RUSSELL FORLAW, M.D.,

Petitioner,

ν.

WALTER FITZER, as the personal representative of the Estate of DIANE FITZER, deceased.

Respondent.

BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF THE RESPONDENT

MONTGOMERY, LYTAL REITER,
DENNEY & SEARCY, P.A.
P. O. Drawer 3626
West Palm Beach, FL 33402
and
EDNA L. CARUSO, P.A.
Suite 4B-Barristers Bldg.
1615 Forum Place
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
305-686-8010
Attorneys for Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Plaintiff accepts Dr. Forlaw's Statement of the Case and Facts with the following correction. Dr. Forlaw states that Loomis had no automobile liability insurance. record absolutely and unequivocally fails to support this statement.

QUESTION CERTIFIED

IS A PHYSICIAN WHO PRESCRIBES QUAALUDES TO A KNOWN DRUG ADDICT LIABLE TO A THIRD PARTY FOR THE NEGLIGENCE OF THE PATIENT IN DRIVING A CAR WHILE UNDER THE INFLUENCE OF THE DRUG?

Dr. Forlaw has taken the liberty of restating the It should be noted that Dr. Forlaw certified question. requested the Fourth District to certify the question as he has restated it in his brief before this Court. The Fourth District refused to do so (A5). In DAVIS v. MANDAU 410 So.2d 915 (Fla. 1981), this Court stated that where another

issue rather than the one certified by the District Court of Appeal was urged, this Court did not have jurisdiction to decide the issue. In the present case, Dr. Forlaw is attempting to present an entirely separate issue, which the District Court refused to certify, and which this Court does not have jurisdiction to hear.

ARGUMENT

Dr. Forlaw has failed to address the real issue before the Court by making a rather emotional plea that the Fourth District has created "a dram shop act for physicians". Most of his brief is devoted to citing cases holding that tavern owners cannot be liable under §768.125 F.S. for selling alcoholic beverages except under certain circumstances. The doctor argues that if tavern owners cannot be liable for selling liquor, he should not be liable for dispensing drugs.

Dr. Forlaw not only mischaracterizes, but oversimplifies, this case. It has nothing to do with liability under a dram shop act or liability having any semblance thereof. Accordingly, the cases cited by Dr. Forlaw are not material to the issue before the Court.

Contrary to Dr. Forlaw's contention, the Fourth District did not analogize a doctor's liability to that of a tavern owner who knowingly serves alcohol to a person habitually addicted. The Fourth District drew no analogy. Rather, in Dr. Forlaw's brief filed with the Fourth District

Court of Appeal he argued that his liability was similar to that of a seller of alcoholic beverages, and therefore because tavern owners could not be liable under \$768.125 F.S. he should not be liable. (See portions of Dr. Forlaw's brief filed with the Fourth District Court of Appeal, RA1-2). In response thereto, and in rejection of that argument, the Fourth District pointed out in its decision: "indeed, even the statute immunizing tavern owners from liability to third persons [upon which Dr. Forlaw relied] has an exception in the event the alcohol is normally served 'to a person habitually addicted. . .'". Therefore, even accepting Dr. Forlaw's analogy to \$768.125 F.S., there would be liability since it was alleged that Dr. Forlaw had knowingly prescribed drugs to a drug addict.

It was Dr. Forlaw who analogized this case to §768.125. The Fourth District merely observed that the analogy did not apply. Dram shop acts impose liability on those selling or furnishing intoxicating liquors to a person who becomes intoxicated and injures another or his personal property. Wrongful death acts and dram shop acts are distinguishable, both as to scope and purpose. A recovery for wrongful death in no way precludes an action separate and apart under a dram shop act. 45 Am.Jur.2d Intoxicating Liquors, §564. This case is a wrongful death action and has nothing to do with dram shop liability. For that reason, Plaintiff does not feel that Dr. Forlaw's dram shop argument requires a response of any greater length.

The real issue is whether Dr. Forlaw, in prescribing Quaaludes to a known drug addict, is liable to a third person for the negligence of the addict in driving a car while under the influence of the Quaaludes. Did Dr. Forlaw have a duty to the public and thus to Plaintiff under the allegations of the Second Amended Complaint?

Plaintiff's Complaint alleges liability based upon Dr. Forlaw's actions in (1) prescribing Quaaludes to a known drug addict and; (2) failing to warn the drug addict not to drive a motor vehicle while under the influence of the drug and not to drink intoxicating liquors while using the drug.

Several Florida cases have concerned a doctor's liability to third persons. In HOFMANN v. BLACKMON, 241 So.2d 752 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970) an action was brought by a minor child against a physician for negligently failing to diagnose tuberculosis in his father, resulting in the child contracting the disease. The trial court entered a partial summary judgment for the doctor and the child appealed. The Fourth District reversed, holding that the physician had a duty to properly diagnose the tuberculosis and warn the family of the nature of the contagious disease and the precautionary steps to be taken.

In BURROUGH v. BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF ALACHUA GENERAL HOSPITAL, 328 So.2d 538 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976) the plaintiff filed an action against a physician and hospital for injuries sustained in an automobile accident. The plaintiff alleged that the defendants were negligent in permitting the

driver of the other car involved in the accident, who was a patient under treatment for alcoholism and depression, to leave the hospital on a day pass when they knew or should have known that she would attempt to operate an automobile and that she could not do so safely. The trial court entered summary judgment in favor of the defendants and the plaintiffs appealed. The First District reversed, but stated that the sufficiency of the allegations of negligence and causation were not before the court and therefore the court would assume, but not decide, that the complaint stated a cause of action.

A recent analogous case is K-MART **ENTERPRISES** OF FLORIDA, INC. v. KELLER, 3rd DCA, Case No. 81-2121, decision filed September 27, 1983, 8 FLW 2383. In that case, K-Mart sold a rifle to Knuck in violation of the Gun Control Act. Six weeks later Knuck gave his brother, who was both an ex-heroin addict who was taking pills and an alcoholic who had been drinking heavily, a box of ammunition and the rifle. Knuck's brother shot his wife, and took his sister and her young child hostage. In a confrontation with police, policeman Keller was shot by Knuck's brother. Third District Court of Appeal upheld a jury verdict for Keller against K-Mart. The court pointed out that K-Mart's actions were negligence per se in the sale of firearms to Knuck, in violation of the statute. Nonetheless, K-Mart claimed that it was insulated from liability based upon intervening, unforeseeable circumstances and therefore its

conduct was not the cause of Keller's injuries. The Third District disagreed and held that the shooting of Keller was the type of harm or "within the risk" designed to be prevented by the Gun Control Act so that K-Mart's non-adherence to the statute constituted a legal cause of plaintiff's injuries.

The present case is analogous to the KELLER case. problem today's real drug in Unfortunately, doctors are a source of drugs for many drug Florida law provides a program for the dependent people. treatment and rehabilitation of drug dependent people, such as Loomis, Chapter 397, F.S., and forbids doctors to "feed" a drug dependent person's drug problem. Doctors have a responsibility in present day society to know whom they are prescribing drugs to, and to make sure it is for medical Dr. Forlaw's sale or delivery of Quaaludes by means of a prescription issued in bad faith and not in the course of his professional practice (i.e., not for medical purposes) constitutes a violation of §898.13 making it unlawful for any person to sell, manufacture or deliver a controlled substance. CILENTO v. STATE, 377 So.2d 663 (Fla. 1979). A doctor in this state can have his medical license revoked, or can be prevented from prescribing controlled substances, where he has been found guilty of prescribing narcotics for drug dependent persons. GALLO v. STATE BOARD OF MEDICAL EXAMINERS, 257 So.2d 97 (Fla. 3d DCA 1972).

doctor can also be criminally prosecuted for dispensing Quaaludes to a drug addict. CILENTO v. STATE, supra.

In the present case, Dr. Forlaw's actions in prescribing Quaaludes for the drug addict were in violation of a state statute, which was designed to protect not only addicts, but the public in general. Dr. Forlaw's violation of §898.13 F.S. was a legal cause of the minor plaintiff's death, as was K-Mart's actions in causing the plaintiffs injuries in the KELLER case by violating the Gun Control Act.

In addition to the allegations in Plaintiff's Complaint that Dr. Forlaw prescribed Quaaludes for an apparent drug addict, there are also allegations that he failed to warn the drug addict not to drive an automobile and not to drink alcohol while under the influence of the Quaaludes. number of out-of-state cases have held that a physician is liable to a third party for negligence in failing to warn a patient not to drive a vehicle, when the patient inflicted injuries on a third person while driving a vehicle under the influence of a drug prescribed by the physician. v. SUBURBAN TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM, 398 P.2d 14 (Wash. 1965) the Washington Supreme Court held that where the standard of care in administering a drug required the doctor to warn a patient of possible side effects, and where the physician had failed to warn a bus driver of the possible side effects of drowziness from a drug he had prescribed, a jury question was presented as to the physician's liability to a bus

passenger, when the driver lost consciousness after use of the drug. The court found that the intervening act of the bus driver in driving the bus while drowsy was not necessarily an intervening cause which would insulate the physician from liability, if the jury found that the harm resulting to the plaintiff was in the field of danger which would reasonably have been foreseeable by the doctor when he administered the drug.

In FREESE v. LEMMON, 210 N.W.2d 576 (Iowa 1973) the plaintiff alleged that the defendant-physician knew the motorist had suffered an earlier seizure, was negligent in failing to diagnose the cause of the first seizure (epilepsy), and in failing to warn the motorist not to drive an automobile. The Iowa Supreme Court held that the claim stated a cause of action against the physician for injuries sustained by a pedestrian who was struck when the motorist suffered a seizure and lost control of the automobile.

In WHARTON TRANSPORT CORP. v. BRIDGES, 606 S.W. 2d 521 (Tenn. 1980) a truck driver employed by Wharton Transport Corporation was involved in a traffic accident injuring members of the Rains family. Wharton Transport sued the doctor, who had certified the driver as fit, for indemnity after settling the claims of the Rains family. At the conclusion of the evidence, the trial court directed a verdict for the physician on the ground that Wharton Transport had failed to establish that a negligent examination by the doctor was the proximate cause of the

accident, and that no duty ran from the doctor to the Rains family. The Supreme Court of Tennessee reversed finding that injuries suffered by the Rains family were reasonably foreseeable to the physician, and that he knew the purpose of the examination and its importance in highway safety and that the failure to properly conduct the examination would increase the risk of harm to members of the motoring public.

In GOODEN v. TIPS, 651 S.W. 2d 364 (Tex. App. 1983) the court held that plaintiff's complaint which alleged that a physician was negligent in prescribing Quaaludes for his patient and yet failing to warn her not to drive an automobile while under the influence of such drugs, and that such negligence was the proximate cause of injuries suffered by the plaintiff when he was struck by a car driven by the patient, was sufficient to state a cause of action against the physician. The court stated that a physician has a duty to use reasonable care to protect the driving public where the physician's negligence in diagnosis or treatment of a patient contributes to the plaintiff's injuries. The court held that the harm resulting to the plaintiff was a reasonably foreseeable consequence of the physician's failure to warn his patient not to drive. The physician knew, or in the exercise of ordinary care should have known, that the medication could seriously impair the patient's ability to drive a motor vehicle. Thus, the harm resulting to the plaintiff, held the court, was in the general field of danger which should reasonably have been foreseen by the

doctor, and the doctor was under a duty to take whatever steps were reasonable under the circumstances to reduce the likelihood of injury to other motorists.

In MYERS v. QUESENBERRY, 192 Cal. Rptr. 583 (Cal. App. 1983) the court held that a complaint brought against the defendant physician by a pedestrian struck when the physicians' patient lost control of her car while driving to the hospital on the physicians' directions, stated a cause of action against the physician for negligently failing to warn the patient against driving in an uncontrolled diabetic condition. The court stated:

avoid liability in this case, Quesenberry and Beaumont should have taken whatever steps were reasonable under the circumstances to protect Myers and other foreseeable victims of Hansen's dangerous conduct. . . . What is a reasonable step to take will vary from case to case. . . . When a physician furnishes medicine causing drowsiness, he probably should warn his patient not to drive or engage in other activities which are likely to cause injury. . . . Similarly, if a physician knows or should know of a patient's condition willimpair her and motor coordination, faculties probably should warn her accordingly.

As indicated in the above cases, when a physician prescribes a drug for his patient which the physician knows, or should have known, has an intoxicating effect, he has a duty to the public to warn that patient not to drive while under the influence of the drug. Those cases apply to the facts of this case and directly support upholding the plaintiff's complaint. In addition, there is the added

factor that the patient, Loomis, was a drug addict. This fact is even more reason why Dr. Forlaw either should not have prescribed the Quaaludes at all, or should have admonished Loomis not to drive a car, and drink alcoholic beverages, while under the influence of the Quaaludes.

There is one case that goes a step further than the above cases and requires a warning to potential victims, rather than to the patient himself. In TARASOFF v. REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, 551 P.2d 334 (Cal. 1976) the patient of the defendant psycho-therapists killed a woman two months after he had confided to them of his intention to kill her. The woman's parents brought an action against the psycho-therapists to recover for the murder of their daughter by the psychiatric patient. The Supreme Court of California found that the complaint stated a cause of action. The court noted that under the Restatement of Torts 2d §315, when the avoidance of foreseeable harm requires a defendant to control the conduct of another person, or to warn of such conduct, liability is imposed if defendant bears the some special relationship to dangerous person or to the potential victim. The court held that the relationship of the psycho-therapist (or doctor) to his patient satisfied that requirement. Accordingly, the court held that when a psycho-therapist determines, or should determine, that his patient presents a serious danger of violence to another person, he incurs an obligation to use reasonable care in protecting the intended victim

against such danger, by controlling the conduct of the patient or warning the intended victim..

Dr. Forlaw argues that TARASOFF is inapplicable because LIPARI v. SEARS, ROEBUCK & CO., 497 F. Supp. 185 (D.C. Neb. 1980) and THOMPSON v. COUNTY OF ALAMEDA, 167 Cal. Rptr. 70, 27 Cal.3d 741, 615 P.2d 728 (1980) have limited the TARASOFF decision to identifiable or foreseeable third persons. Dr. Forlaw argues that the minor Plaintiff in the present case was not an identifiable victim and stood in no different position than the public at large.

It is not Plaintiff's contention that this is a case that comes within the TARASOFF ruling. This is not a case where a warning must have been given to the potential victim, the minor Plaintiff. This is a case where the warning should have been given to the patient, Loomis. A distinction must be drawn between the TARASOFF case, where there may be a duty to warn an identifiable or foreseeable victim, and the present case where there is a duty to the public to warn the patient. This distinction was clearly pointed out in MYERS v. QUESENBERRY, supra:

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